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We service independent retailers in all corners of Australia, including Cape York and Cooktown in the North East, Dampier 
and Broome in the North West, Albany and Denmark in the South West and Tarwin Lower and Foster in the South East.

~5,450  
bannered retail stores across 
Food, Hardware and Liquor 

~14,000  
liquor customers through ALM

~760  
non-bannered hardware outlets

>80,000  
convenience customers

We reach

of Australians
~95%

has the widest retail 
distribution network 
in Australia

>10 million 
transactions across 

Australia & New Zealand 
per week

>4,400
Supplier partners 
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Acknowledgement of Country 
Metcash acknowledges the Traditional Custodians of 
the lands on which we live and operate, and we pay our 
respects to Elders past, present and emerging.

About this report 
Financial year 2022 results included a 53rd trading week. 
Comparisons with FY22 are based on a normalised 52 week 
versus 52 week basis (using 52/53 calculation method) 
throughout this report (excluding the Financial Report) 
unless otherwise stated.
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We service a strong and growing network 
of ~5,450 bannered independent retailers 
in Australia and New Zealand; across the 
food, liquor and hardware industries. 
Our focus is on helping independent 
retailers be the ‘Best Store in Their Town’ 
by providing merchandising, operational 
and marketing support.

About Us

Metcash is Australia’s leading wholesale distribution 
company, with revenue (including charge-through)1 
exceeding $18 billion in FY23 

We believe: Independence is worth 
fighting for; in treating our people, 
retailers, and suppliers the way we like 
to be treated; and in giving back to the 
communities where we live and work.

OUR VALUES

We are passionate about independents 
and support them to be the best store 
in their town; and their communities to 
thrive. We aim to be the business partner 
of choice and help create a sustainable 
future. For our employees we aim to be 
a favourite place to work.

OUR VISION

OUR PURPOSE

Championing
Successful
Independents

OUR PILLARS

We are the largest supplier to independent 
supermarkets in Australia, including those 
that operate under the well-known IGA and 
Foodland brands.

The community-based supermarkets in our network 
are mostly family-owned, run by locals for locals. 
We help ensure these stores are competitive and are 
able to offer their shoppers real value.

In Convenience, we supply thousands of businesses 
including restaurants, coffee shops, fresh food 
outlets and forecourt retailers, and corner stores. 

FOOD

Food Sales Sales growth

 16.6% 3 yr2Reported $8.4bn
$9.6bn 2.8%
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RECORD  
GROUP REVENUE

$18.1bn
5.7% (+29.0% 3yr)2

Reported $15.8bn

HARDWARE LIQUOR

Independent Hardware Group is Australia’s largest 
home improvement wholesaler and the second‑largest 
player in the Australian Hardware market. 

It is home to the Mitre 10 and Home Hardware brands 
and supplies more than 1,500 stores nationwide. It 
is the leading supplier to the small to medium size 
home builder. 

Total Tools Holdings is the franchisor to the largest 
network of professional tool retailers in Australia.

In liquor, we are the second-largest player in the 
Australian market and supply ~90% of independent 
liquor stores. 

Our Independent Brands Australia (IBA) network 
is home to strong national retail brands including 
Cellarbrations, The Bottle-O, Porters Liquor and 
IGA Liquor. 

Through our Australian Liquor Marketers (ALM) 
division, we supply thousands of customers in both 
the retail and ‘on-premise’ segments.

Reported $2.3bn Reported $5.1bn 63.1% 3 yr  37.7% 3 yr

Hardware Sales Sales growth

$3.4bn 10.6%
Liquor Sales Sales growth

$5.1bn 8.3%

1.	 Sales revenue referenced within this section includes charge-through sales. Charge-through sales relate to direct sales from suppliers to retailers, invoiced 
through Metcash. Reported revenue excludes charge-through sales in accordance with AASB 15.

2.	 The previous East Coast supply agreement with 7-Eleven concluded on 17 August 2020 and Metcash ceased to supply Drakes in South Australia from 
September 2019. A three-year normalised sales growth has been calculated by adjusting sales in the relevant comparative period to exclude sales to both 
7-Eleven and Drakes.

Revenue by pillar

 Food	 53%
 Liquor	 28% 
 Hardware	 19%
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1.	 Includes charge-through sales.
2.	 Normalised growth.

Group  
Highlights
Continuation of growth momentum

GROUP REVENUE1

$18.1bn
GROUP EBIT 
Underlying

$501m

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Underlying

31.8cps
PROFIT AFTER TAX 
Underlying

$308m

FY23 DIVIDENDS 

22.5cps
OPERATING CASH FLOW 

$373m

(3yr  29.0%2) 

(3yr  54.7%) (3yr  45.9%) 

(3yr +80%) 

(3yr  49.5%) 

(Reported $15.8bn)

(Reported $259m) (Reported 26.8cps)

 5.7%

 4.6%

Cash realisation ratio 77%

 6.4%

 4.7%

 8.1%
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Helping tradies to get in,  
get out, and get on with it

SUPPORTING 
LOCAL TRADIES

 LOCAL STORY

Torrensville, South Australia 
K & B Mitre 10 Trade Centre opened its doors in 2021. The 
team are experts in helping local tradies pick up everything 
they need for their build and get back to site as quickly as 
possible. From store design and range through to customer 
service and early opening hours, the K & B Mitre 10 team 
really have thought of everything to fulfill their customers’ 
needs including regular free breakfasts. The new store 
features a large multi-lane undercover drive‑through pick-up 
facility, as well as a wide range of products, services such as 
a special orders desk for spare parts and custom products, 
access to a Mitre 10 Trade Account Manager, and bulk 
delivery direct-to-site services.

ADELAIDE

WOODVILLE
SOUTH

TORRENSVILLE, SA

K & B Mitre 10 Trade Centre, Torrensville, South Australia 
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Our flywheel underpins our unique competitive 
advantages and our value creation initiatives

OUR FLYWHEEL

Provide an effective 
and efficient  
route-to-market 
choice for suppliers 
through our scale 
and independent 
partner network

Supply
Provide a  
multi-channel  
B2B platform

Provide best possible 
range of products 

to independent 
customers to meet 

their shoppers’ needs, 
and support them 
with formats and 

tools to compete with 
national retailers

Demand
Generate and 

capture for our 
customers01

02

03

Strategic  
Focus

Our core: wholesale and logistics  
Our end-to-end supply chain gives us our unique position to serve the 

independent retail network in Australia and New Zealand. We plan to invest 
in, extend and protect our competitive advantage. 

Brands and formats that shoppers love  
because they meet their needs both functional and emotional; and that 

independent businesses want to own and operate.

Additional services and support for our independent retailers,  
to help them compete against the biggest players in the market.
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Our Transformation – 
larger, more diversified and stronger
A balanced portfolio of businesses positioned for continued growth momentum

A substantially larger 
earnings base

Leading supplier  
to S/M size builders

#1 in Professional Tools
#2 in DIY

Largest supplier 
to independent 
supermarkets 

in Australia

2nd-largest player 
and market 

outperformance

$1.85bn  
FY23 retail sales

~40% of Hardware network rev
177 Hardware 

JV/Company‑owned stores

A balanced portfolio  
of businesses 
(Hardware now largest 
EBIT contributor)

Retail sales doubled

Stronger market 
positions, healthier 
and more competitive 
retail networks

Growth opportunities

39% 42% 

19% 

$527m
FY23 Pillar 

EBIT1

$0.93bn 
FY20 retail sales

105 Hardware  
JV/Company‑owned stores

54% 

25% 

21% 

$340m
FY20 Pillar 

EBIT1

>50%  
EBIT growth

 Hardware 
 Food	
 Liquor

– New stores: independent and JV/Company-owned
– Store upgrades
– New categories
– Consolidation of fragmented market in Hardware
– New customers
– Potential M&A

FOOD HARDWARE LIQUOR

1.	 Underlying EBIT.

7About Reports Pillars Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial Report



Chairman’s 
Report

Welcome to this year’s 
Annual Report, my first as 
Metcash Chairman. It is very 
pleasing to report that the 
Group has delivered another 
record year, and one that 
represents continued progress 
on the outstanding results in 
the prior two years.

Growth momentum continued in our Food, Hardware and 
Liquor pillars driven by strong demand, the success of our 
strategic initiatives and the contribution from acquisitions.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Group reported revenue, which excludes charge-through sales, 
increased 6.2% to $15.8bn. Including charge-through sales, 
Group revenue increased 5.7% to exceed $18bn for the first 
time, and underlying profit after tax was up 4.6% to a record 
$308m. The last three years have seen extraordinary growth 
for Metcash, with Group revenue up 29% and earnings growing 
more than 50%.

The continued strong performance is testament to the 
improved competitiveness of our retail networks and their 
dedication to serving their local communities, as well as the 
passion and commitment of our Metcash teams who are truly 
living our purpose of Championing Successful Independents.

Underlying earnings per share increased 6.4% to 31.8 cents 
per share, an increase of 45.9% over the three years. The lift 
in earnings and strong financial position of Metcash led to 
dividends for FY23 increasing ~5% to 22.5 cents per share 
fully franked, which is an increase of 80% over the three years. 
Total distributions to shareholders are a substantial $800m 
over the same period. Group CEO, Doug Jones will discuss 
the Company’s performance in more detail in his Report.

STRATEGY
At the core of our strategy is to further improve the 
competitiveness of our independent retail networks. This 
includes continuing to improve the quality and value of the 
offer to shoppers, and in strengthening and growing our 
own, and our network’s, capabilities to deliver value to our 
retailers and suppliers. Our focus on both the shopper and 
retailer helps grow sales volumes, which is the key driver of 
Metcash’s flywheel and underpins our competitive advantages 
and performance.

 80% over 3 years

 ~46% over 3 years1

Dividends increased ~5%  
to 22.5 cps fully franked 

Underlying earnings per share increased 
6.4% to 31.8 cents

1.	 Normalised growth.

8 Metcash Annual Report 2023



ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE (ESG)
Metcash has an ambitious agenda for lifting its ESG credentials 
and it was pleasing to see the Company’s efforts recognised 
by Dow Jones in its Sustainability Index assessment. This year 
Metcash was placed in the 87th percentile of its designated 
international sector, compared with the 56th percentile two 
years ago.

Significant progress was made against our ESG plans, including 
in the key areas of Environment and Climate, Our People and 
Community and Products.

Our emissions reduced by a further 5%, in line with the 
trajectory of our Paris Agreement-aligned 2030 science-based 
target for Scope 1 and 2 emissions. From a people perspective, 
our key safety measure (Total Recordable Injury Frequency 
Rate) improved 34% to 19.9; we achieved our 40/40/20 gender 
diversity target at Board and Senior Management level; and 
our engagement and culture score improved as I have noted. 
Donations through the Community Chest program increased 
30% to $3.1m and over 600,000 meals and 22 tonnes of 
essential groceries were donated for those in need.

From a reporting perspective, our 2023 Sustainability 
Report will be aligned to standards in the internationally 
accepted Global Reporting Index (GRI), and the Taskforce 
for Climate Change Financial Disclosures (TCFD). This has 
been made possible through the completion of three years 
of preparatory work.

A summary of the 2023 Sustainability Report can be found 
on page 30 of the Annual Report, with the full Sustainability 
Report available on our website in August.

We remain committed to investing in growth and have a 
significant and expanding pipeline of opportunities across 
our pillars, and particularly in Hardware. The acquisition of 
Total Tools and expansion of our network of joint venture and 
Company-owned stores have been a real success and present 
further opportunities. All capital investments are assessed 
though a disciplined process that includes consideration of 
the investment’s strategic fit and ability to meet our financial 
return hurdles.

REMUNERATION AND CULTURE
Following the outcome of our annual benchmarking study by 
remuneration specialists Aon, modest fixed pay increases were 
awarded to the Hardware and Liquor pillar CEOs to maintain 
their position at the market medians. There was no change to 
fixed pay for the Group CEO.

Short-Term Incentive (STI) outcomes for Key Management 
Personnel (KMP) continued to be based on pool and scorecard 
results and ranged from 65% to 84% of the maximum potential 
reward. This reflects the delivery of outstanding results in FY23.

The year included a review of our STI deferral practices and, 
commencing in FY24, we are increasing the STI deferral 
component for the Group CEO from 33% to 40%, with a 
further increase to 50% in FY25. The Group CFO’s deferral 
component lifts from 25% to 33% in FY24, then to 40% in FY25 
and 50% in FY26. These changes are to align with market best 
practice and to align the interests of our most senior executives 
with those of our shareholders.

Our FY21 Long-Term Incentive (LTI) vested this year at 100%. 
The Return on Funds Employed outcome was ~30%, and the 
Absolute Total Shareholder Return outcome was 21% which 
reflects growth of ~75% in our share price and dividends over 
the three-year performance period.

We continued to focus on maintaining our excellent record 
of paying equitably across the Metcash Group. Our gender 
pay gap was maintained at ~1% and we were again awarded 
a citation as Employer of Choice by the Workplace Gender 
Equality Agency, recognising our commitment to gender pay 
parity and equality.

Workplace engagement and culture continues to be a key 
focus for us, and it was pleasing to see a further improvement 
in our engagement survey results. This year we were placed in 
the 71st percentile of internationally benchmarked companies 
(FY22: 62nd percentile) for salaried employees.

Further details on our remuneration framework and FY23 
outcomes can be found in the Remuneration Report 
commencing on page 51.

The last three years have 
seen extraordinary growth 
for Metcash, with Group 
revenue up 29% and earnings 
growth more than 50%.
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LOOKING FORWARD
While demand continues to be solid in all pillars, the impact 
of higher interest rates and cost of living has started to impact 
consumer confidence and the behaviour of some customers 
and shoppers in our retail networks.

Importantly, Metcash is now much larger, more diversified 
and stronger than it was three years ago, and our management 
team and retail networks are experienced at managing 
well through challenges, including changes to the external 
environment.

The fundamentals for our businesses remain sound, supported 
by high employment, increasing population and immigration and 
continued government investment in infrastructure and housing.

We have healthy and supportive retail networks and a 
significant and increasing pipeline of growth opportunities. 
Our financial position is strong, and we have an experienced 
management team to continue progressing our growth 
plans and focus on superior returns for shareholders 
through the cycle.

THANKS
I would like to thank my fellow Directors for their support 
to me in my first year as Metcash Chairman, and for their 
commitment and contribution over the year.

To the Metcash leadership team and all our people, our 
independent retailers and suppliers, I would like to express my 
thanks and that of the entire Board for your ongoing support.

Peter Birtles 
Chairman

SAFETY AND SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE
Recognising the importance of safety and ESG at Metcash, 
the Board established a separate Safety and Sustainability 
Committee on 1 May 2023. The Committee is chaired by 
Christine Holman, with Murray Jordan and me as members. 
The Committee oversees Metcash’s strategy and reporting 
in these very important areas.

LEADERSHIP CHANGES (KMP)
In March we announced that Grant Ramage would succeed 
Scott Marshall as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Food 
pillar effective 1 May 2023. Scott had been with Metcash for 
more than 30 years; and with the Food pillar positioned well 
for the future, believed it was the right time to pursue another 
career opportunity. Grant was most recently the Food pillar’s 
Executive General Manager Merchandise and, as a member 
of the Food leadership group, has been a key contributor to 
the very strong performance of both the Food pillar and IGA 
network in recent years.

Last month we announced the appointment of Deepa Sita 
as our new Group Chief Financial Officer (CFO) to succeed 
Alistair Bell, who had earlier advised of his intention to retire 
from the role. Deepa is an experienced executive with an 
extensive career in finance and industry that spans more than 
20 years. She is currently CFO of the largest FMCG company in 
Africa, Tiger Consumer Brands Limited, and was named South 
Africa’s 2022 CFO of the year in the Finance and Technology, 
and Compliance and Governance categories. Deepa will join 
Metcash in January 2024.

Chairman’s Report continued

We have healthy and 
supportive retail networks 
and a significant and 
increasing pipeline 
of growth opportunities. 
Our financial position is 
strong, and we have an 
experienced management 
team to continue 
progressing our growth 
plans and focus on superior 
returns for shareholders 
through the cycle. 
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SUPPORTING  
LOCAL SUPPLIERS

 LOCAL STORY

Mt Evelyn, Victoria 
Mt Evelyn IGA is a family run supermarket that has been 
proudly part of the local community since 1972. Their 
primary focus is on fulfilling the community’s needs and 
supporting locals wherever possible.

Tony Ingpen has been stocking Melbourne local Chris 
Barlotta’s That’s Alotta Donuts in his store for the last 
couple of years. Chris started the business at 23, after 
a career-ending basketball injury, with some help from 
his parents. The business nearly failed during COVID but 
working with Tony and selling his products through the  
Mt Evelyn IGA helped not only keep the business afloat but 
to grow to where it is today. He started selling 100 donuts 
to the Mt Evelyn IGA every two days, growing quickly to 
200 per day. It wasn’t long before That’s Alotta Donuts 
were being stocked in multiple IGA stores and Chris was 
selling 2,000 donuts a day through the network. He now 
sells 8,000 donuts a day – through the family’s own two 
shops, online, and through the IGA network in Victoria.

Tony Ingpen and Chris Barlotta in Mt Evelyn IGA, Victoria

WANDIN

LILYDALE

MT EVELYN, VIC
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Group CEO’s 
Report

This year has been an 
outstanding one for 
Metcash and I am pleased 
to present a very strong 
set of results for FY23.

I continue to be both amazed and proud of the passion 
and enthusiasm shown by our independent retailers in serving 
their local communities. Our retail networks are predominantly 
made up of family‑owned small businesses, with many of 
them multi‑generational. They provide a differentiated value 
and unique shopping proposition for their customers and 
are enormous contributors to local communities and the 
national economy.

We recently commissioned an independent report to quantify 
their contribution across the IGA and Foodland retail networks 
and found they support more than 34,000 local organisations, 
around 100,000 jobs directly and indirectly and contribute 
over $8bn annually to the national economy. This enormous 
contribution would be even greater when adding the impact 
of our Hardware and Liquor networks.

We believe our independent retailers are a national treasure 
that should be encouraged and supported. Championing 
Successful Independents is both our purpose and our strategy; 
it guides what we do every day. Our team members have done 
an excellent job in executing our strategies and working with 
retailers and suppliers to further strengthen and grow our 
independent retail networks this year.

The ongoing dedication and enthusiasm of our people towards 
this cause has been a real highlight for me since I joined 
Metcash just over 18 months ago. I sincerely thank them for 
the key role they have played and continue to play in delivering 
our purpose of Championing Successful Independents. 
Through the combined efforts of our people, retailers and 
suppliers, our independent retail networks are a competitive 
and differentiated alternative to larger market players, valued 
by communities across Australia.

 ~12% 3yr

 ~160% 3yr

Hardware EBIT  ~17%

 43% 3yr

Liquor EBIT  ~9%

Food EBIT  ~4%
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PILLAR FINANCIALS
Food
Total Food sales (including charge-through) increased 2.8% 
to $9.6bn on a normalised basis (+16.6% 3yr normalised) 
despite cycling elevated sales in the second half of FY22 due 
to strong in-stock positions during floods and rail disruptions. 
Supermarkets sales increased 2.1% (+16.1% 3yr normalised) and 
sales in the Convenience business increased 9.7% (+20.4% 3yr 
normalised) driven by the addition of new customers, strong 
food service demand and the normalisation of customer 
activity post COVID restrictions.

Tobacco sales declined 6.8% reflecting the acceleration 
of illicit trade and continuation of the decline in smoking. 
On an ex‑tobacco basis, total Food sales increased 7.0% 
(+19.7% 3yr normalised) with Supermarkets wholesale sales 
+6.4% (+19.2% 3yr normalised) and Convenience +12.8% 
(+22.5% 3yr normalised).

Underpinning the strong performance is the continued 
successful execution of our strategic initiatives to further 
improve the competitiveness of the IGA network, with 
particular focus on prices, ranges, store quality and standards 
to drive value for shoppers. Sales have also been buoyed by 
wholesale inflation which averaged 7.6% for the year.

From early calendar 2023 we have seen a noticeable change in 
the behaviour of some shoppers to focus more on ‘value’ items. 
The network continued to retain the majority of shoppers 
gained in recent years with ‘foot traffic’ increasing. The impact 
of cost‑of-living pressures and increased focus on value was 
seen in a flat average ‘basket size’.

Retail like for like sales growth in the IGA network was 0.9% 
and +3.0% ex-tobacco (3yr: 21.4%). A record of 39 new stores 
were opened in the year.

Food EBIT increased 3.8% on a normalised basis to $204.0m 
and the EBIT margin was 2.1%.

Hardware
Hardware sales (including charge-through) increased 10.6% 
on a normalised basis to $3.4bn (+63.1% 3yr) reflecting 
continued growth in both IHG and Total Tools and the impact 
of acquisitions.

Combined sales in the IHG and Total Tools retail networks 
increased 4.5% to ~$4.5bn (+~40% 3yr LfL basis).

Demand remained robust in DIY and Trade, with Trade 
continuing to be underpinned by a strong pipeline of 
construction activity and an improvement in supply availability. 
Inflation was again elevated in both DIY and Trade.

The Metcash strategy has as its primary objectives to be 
the wholesale and brand partner of choice to independent 
retailers, and to be the route-to-market partner of choice 
to suppliers in the food, hardware and liquor sectors. We 
achieve our strategy through our flywheel, which captures 
the key competitive advantages that set us apart; at its heart 
is logistics to support the end-to-end supply chain, next is our 
strategy to nurture brands and formats that shoppers love to 
shop in, and independent entrepreneurs want to invest in and 
run; and finally our support and services to help independents 
compete with the larger chain stores.

On the strength of our purpose, strategy and flywheel, the year 
has been an outstanding one for Metcash and I am pleased to 
present a very strong set of results for FY23. Sales and earnings 
were both at record levels, our pillar initiatives continued to 
improve the competitiveness of our retail networks and our 
strategic acquisitions delivered valuable contributions to 
performance and drove our growth.

This year’s results represent further growth on the exceptional 
performance in the prior two years. Our three-year growth 
is substantial with Underlying Profit After Tax up ~55% and 
dividends up 80%. Importantly, the strong performance has 
been in all pillars and across all retail networks.

GROUP FINANCIALS
Group reported revenue, which excludes charge-through 
sales, increased 6.2% to $15.8bn (FY22: $14.9bn). Including 
charge-through sales, Group revenue increased 5.7% to $18.1bn 
(FY22: $17.1bn), with growth in each pillar building on the strong 
sales performance over the prior two years.

Group underlying EBIT increased 8.1% to a record $500.8m, 
with earnings growth in all pillars reflecting continued strong 
demand, good operating discipline and the success of strategic 
acquisitions and initiatives. On a three-year basis, Group 
underlying EBIT increased 49.5%.

Group underlying profit after tax increased 4.6% to $307.5m, 
and statutory profit after tax increased 7.6% to $259.0m. 
Underlying earnings per share increased 6.4% to 31.8 cents 
reflecting the increase in profit after tax.

Group operating cashflow was $372.7m (FY22: $432.3m) with 
a cash realisation ratio of ~77%. This is below our historical 
average reflecting additional tax payments, an increase in 
working capital from a strategic investment in inventory, 
growth in the Hardware pillar and the adverse impact of 
‘significant items’. The cash realisation ratio was higher in 
the second half of the year at 120%.

Net debt at the end of the financial year was $349.6m 
(FY22: $189.0m), and the Group has significant undrawn 
facilities which include $525m of new Sustainability Linked 
Finance facilities.

The Group’s lift in earnings and strong financial position led to 
a ~5% increase in total dividends for FY23 to 22.5 cents per 
share, fully franked. This represents an 80% increase in total 
dividends on a three-year basis as noted earlier.
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Sales to on-premise customers increased a significant 31.3% 
reflecting expansion of the customer base through the 
successful execution of the on-premise growth strategy, as 
well as the impact of cycling COVID lockdowns in the prior 
financial year.

Liquor EBIT increased 8.9% to $104.1m on a normalised basis 
and the EBIT margin was 2.1%. 

PILLAR STRATEGIC INITIATIVES
We continued to see good progress and strong results with 
our pillar strategic initiatives. These focus on further improving 
the quality and value of our retailers’ offer to shoppers, and 
in strengthening and growing our own and our network’s 
capabilities so we can deliver value to both our retailers 
and suppliers.

Our key initiatives in Food focus on improving the quality of 
the store network through the Diamond Store Accelerator 
program, and ensuring the network has brand standards that 
deliver a consistent offer by each store format. In Hardware 
we are focused on growing our positions in the Trade and DIY 
segments, as well as expansion of both the Total Tools store 
network and our network of joint venture and Company‑owned 
stores. In Liquor, we are continuing to improve value for 
shoppers through expansion of our owned and exclusive 
product range and by progressing the store upgrade program.

Further information on these initiatives can be found in the 
Pillar sections of the Annual Report.

DIGITAL AND HORIZON
Our B2C digital initiatives are delivering value for shoppers and 
retailers at modest levels of investment, made possible through 
our use of partnerships. In Food, the rollout of IGA Shop Online 
and the IGA Rewards loyalty platforms have continued to 
progress well, and sales through our ‘on-demand’ solution, 
which includes partnerships with Uber Eats and DoorDash, 
are growing strongly. In Hardware, online sales have remained 
strong and we expanded the range of products to ~46,000 in 
IHG and ~35,000 in Total Tools. In Liquor, the branded online 
platforms for Cellarbrations, The Bottle-O and Porters are 
being rolled out, as are branded loyalty programs.

Take-up of our B2B eCommerce marketplaces for retailers 
and suppliers is continuing to grow. In Food, sales through the 
‘Sorted’ platform broke through the one million transaction 
milestone in the year, and in Liquor, the new ‘ALM Connect’ 
platform has been well received since its launch late in the 
financial year. We are also continuing to see good growth 
through our leading Trade technology in Hardware, which is 
highly valued by IHG’s Trade customers.

IHG sales (including charge-through) increased 3.7% 
normalised to $2.8bn (+35.0% 3yr) underpinned by solid 
underlying demand and inflation. Sales in the year were 
impacted by adverse building conditions in the second and 
third quarters, and by the impact in the second half of the 
retail network actively managing working capital in response 
to more challenging external conditions, particularly the 
decline in affordability and consumer confidence.

The IHG retail network continued to perform well with like 
for like retail network sales increasing 2.7% (+34.7% 3yr), 
with Trade +3.8% (+25.8% 3yr) and DIY + 0.6% (+53.9% 3yr).

Total Tools sales increased 61.9% to $583.5m reflecting strong 
Trade activity and the impact of additional majority‑owned 
joint venture stores. Total network sales increased 11.6% 
to $1.085bn (FY22: $972m) with like for like sales up 4.8% 
(+56.2% 3yr). The network continued to expand in line with 
its growth strategy adding a further 10 stores, bringing total 
network stores to 110 at year end.

Hardware EBIT increased 16.8% to $219.2m on a normalised 
basis, and was up 6.7% or $12.5m excluding the impact of 
acquisitions. IHG normalised EBIT increased $10.3m or 8.2% 
to $135.7m and Total Tools normalised EBIT increased $21.2m 
or 34.0% to $83.5m (+6.9% excluding acquisitions).

The Hardware EBIT margin was 6.5% (FY22: 6.1%) which 
includes the positive impact of Total Tools and the retail 
margin from joint venture and Company-owned stores.

Liquor
Total Liquor sales (including charge-through) increased 8.3% on 
a normalised basis to $5.1bn (+37.7% 3yr basis) with continued 
growth in sales to retail and on-premise customers.

The retail network again performed well with strong demand 
buoyed by improved competitiveness, a preference for local 
shopping and continuation of the at-home consumption trend. 
While sales increased to both the IBA network and contract 
customers, the rate of growth tapered in the fourth quarter 
reflecting the impact of higher cost of living pressures with 
some shoppers switching to lower-priced value choices.

Wholesale sales to the IBA banner group and contract 
customers increased 5.6%. Average basket size and spend 
were both up for the year driven by growth in the RTD and 
spirit categories.

Group CEO’s Report continued
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SUPPORTING  
LOCAL COMMUNITIES

 LOCAL STORY

Swanbourne, Western Australia 
Swanbourne IGA’s mission is to support local. 
Since taking over the store 15 years ago, Steve and 
Kirsty Carre have focused on providing quality fresh 
produce, sourced locally from WA producers where 
possible, delivering exceptional customer service 
and giving back to the community.

Not only has the store more than doubled in size over 
the past decade, it has played a significant role in the 
community. Stock that would otherwise have gone 
to waste is donated to St Patrick’s Catholic Church 
to feed the homeless, and through the Community 
Chest program the store provides financial support 
to local community and sporting groups, events, 
not-for-profit organisations and schools. The store 
also supports new and emerging businesses to 
commercialise their products for sale throughout 
the country. Steve was awarded an OAM for his 
service to the community in 2022.

The store won IGA’s Award of Excellence in 2022, 
and has previously received IGA’s small format 
innovation award in recognition of outstanding 
customer service, operational excellence, pride in 
its community and the value it places on its brands. 
Swanbourne is recognised as one of IGA’s most 
awarded stores in Australia and it’s a place where 
locals matter.

We have made steady progress with Project Horizon, 
most recently launching our new inventory forecasting and 
replenishment system in the Food pillar. The new system is 
already delivering benefits through a material lift in inventory 
forecasting accuracy.

We have brought the remainder of the systems build and 
deployment phases in-house, and extended our deployment 
timeline to support a phased, lower risk rollout to ensure we 
maximise the quality of outcomes from our investment. This 
action protects our own intellectual property and capability 
so that once we go live with the remaining systems we are 
positioned to better support and leverage our investment. 
We do not anticipate that this will increase the total capital 
cost of the program.

GOING FORWARD
We are now much larger with a more diversified portfolio 
of businesses following the expansion of our Hardware 
business; we have healthy and aligned retail networks, 
and an experienced and passionate management team.

While we remain the largest wholesaler in our chosen sectors, 
our networks are well positioned in our markets as the leading 
supplier of hardware to small/medium size builders and the 
largest supplier of professional tools in Australia, the largest 
supplier to independent supermarkets in Australia and the 
second-largest player in the Australian Liquor market.

We have a strong financial position and a significant and 
increasing pipeline of growth opportunities to support our 
growth aspirations.

Despite a more challenging external environment the 
fundamentals of our businesses remain sound, and I am excited 
about how well we are positioned to address the challenges 
and opportunities that lie ahead of us.

THANKS
I would like to extend my sincere thanks to our independent 
retailers, suppliers and the Metcash Board and management 
team for your encouragement and support throughout the 
year. I would also like to repeat my earlier thanks to all our 
people at Metcash who live our purpose of Championing 
Successful Independents every day. It has been a year of 
significant achievement for us, and I believe we have the right 
plans, support and encouragement to drive further success 
in FY24.

Doug Jones 
Group CEO

SWANBOURNE

Swanbourne IGA, Western Australia 
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2023 2022 2021 2020 20191

Financial Performance
Reported sales revenue ($m) 15,803.4 15,164.8  14,315.3  13,025.4  12,660.3 
Underlying EBIT ($m) 500.8 472.3  401.4  334.9  330.0 
Finance costs, net ($m) (64.7) (48.5) (42.6) (52.0) (28.9)
Underlying profit after tax ($m) 307.5 299.6 252.7 198.8 210.3
Reported profit/(loss) after tax ($m) 259.0 245.4 239.0 (56.8) 192.8
Operating cashflows ($m) 372.7 432.3 475.5 117.5 244.9
Cash realisation ratio2 (%) 77% 91% 114% 33% 92%
Financial Position
Shareholders’ equity ($m) 1,085.1 1,090.4  1,291.1  1,371.6  1,250.1 
Net cash/(debt) ($m) (349.6) (189.0) 124.6 86.7 (42.9)
Gearing ratio3 (%) 24.4% 14.8% (10.7%) (6.7%) 3.3%
Debt leverage ratio4 0.62x 0.36x (0.27x) (0.22x) 0.09x
Return on funds employed5 (%) 29.6% 31.0% 28.7% 24.9% 27.7%
Share Statistics
Fully paid ordinary shares (m) 965.5 965.5  1,022.4  1,016.4 909.3
Weighted average ordinary shares (m) 965.5 982.8  1,021.9 910.1 928.6
Underlying earnings per share (cents) 31.8 30.5 24.7 21.8 22.6
Reported earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 26.8 25.0 23.4 (6.2) 20.8
Dividends declared per share (cents) 22.5 21.5 17.5 12.5 13.5
Dividend payout ratio (%) 70% 70% 71% 57% 60%
Other Statistics
Number of employees (full-time equivalents) 8,300 8,017  7,010 6,400 6,378

1.	 FY19 financials are reported on a pre-AASB 16 basis.
2.	 Cash flows from operations/Underlying NPAT + Depreciation and Amortisation (depreciation and amortisation not tax effected).
3.	 Net Debt/(Shareholders’ Equity + Net Debt).
4.	 Net Debt/(EBITDA + depreciation of right-of-use assets).
5.	 Underlying EBIT/Average funds employed.

FIVE YEAR REVIEW
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Sales and earnings momentum
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Jo Elson, Mount Barker IGA, 
donates food to the homeless 
through Reverend Haydn Lush 
from Mount Barker Uniting Church
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We are the largest supplier to independent 
supermarkets in Australia and support 
a network of over 1,600 stores, which 
include the well-known IGA and Foodland 
banners. We also service thousands of 
convenience stores, institutions, and other 
small businesses, through our Campbells 
and Convenience business.
Each store in our network strives to be the ‘Best Store 
in their Town’, from the products they sell to the charities 
and organisations they support, to the local people who 
work there. Our retailers mix local relevance, knowledge and 
convenience of a neighbourhood store with the quality and 
competitive prices of a national brand.

With a particular focus on providing value to shoppers through 
a broad and locally tailored range, competitive pricing, unique 
store experience, and exceptional customer service … it is these 
attributes that create a point of difference for our retailers that 
local communities value.

Sales growth continued in FY23 with total Food sales up 2.8% 
to $9.6bn normalised, or 16.6% on a three-year basis. Excluding 
tobacco sales, the increase was 7.0% and 19.7% respectively.

Underpinning the strong sales momentum has been the 
successful execution of initiatives to further improve the 
network’s competitiveness. Despite shoppers facing new 
cost of living and interest rate challenges this year, they have 
continued to include our retailers in their shopping repertoire.

Grant Ramage 
CEO, Metcash Food

Romeo’s IGA Food Hall 
St Leonards, New South Wales

FOOD NATIONAL DISTRIBUTION NETWORK
 

	� Major distribution 
centres

	� Regional distribution 
centres

OUR BRANDS
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Food continued

Our retail network is healthy and confident and there was a 
record number of 39 new stores opened in the year, with more 
stores planned for FY24.

NETWORK OF THE FUTURE INITIATIVES
Store upgrades
A key part of helping our stores remain competitive is 
improving the store experience. The network has continued to 
co-invest in upgrading their stores under the Diamond Store 
Accelerator program, with ~55% of the store network now 
upgraded. Our target is to have 90% of the network refreshed 
by FY26.

Brand standards
We have also improved the shopper experience through driving 
consistent IGA store standards, and now have 420 stores fully 
compliant and a further 555 stores nearing compliance. This 
phase of our Network of the Future transformation is expected 
to be complete by 2024.

Range, price and private label
The IGA price gap to the major chains has narrowed to our 
most competitive position ever, and we are committed to 
helping our retailers deliver great value to local shoppers as 
household budgets continue to come under pressure.

Our Price Match program matches the lowest regular shelf 
price of essential comparable products at the chains, and was 
extended to all IGA stores in late 2022. Our small stores match 
the prices of around 200 products, our medium stores match 
the prices of around 600 items and our bigger stores match 
prices on over 1,200 items. This means shoppers will not pay 
more to shop at their local IGA on any item with a blue Price 
Match ticket. With the program now in all stores, we are able to 
more effectively communicate this key value program through 
targeted marketing campaigns.

Our Low Prices Every Day program is another way we are 
helping shoppers combat the recent increases in cost of 
living. Expanded to over 3,000 essential, competitively 
priced products, customers can shop at IGA with confidence, 
knowing that these products will be at the same low price 
every week.

We are also helping our retailers deliver excellent value to 
customers through our range of private label products under 
our Black & Gold and Community Co brands. We continually 
benchmark the quality of these products and monitor the 
market to ensure that the prices of these items remain 
competitive.

DISTRIBUTION CAPACITY AND 
CAPABILITY EXPANSION
We are continuing to invest in Distribution Centres (DC) to 
expand our capacity and capability. We are also investing 
in supply chain systems to support our growth and deliver 
further efficiency improvements.

Despite challenges associated with supply, labour and pallet 
availability, we were able to maintain our customer service 
levels above supplier inbound service levels. This ensured 
our retailers were able to keep their shelves well stocked for 
serving their local communities.

Construction of our new DC in Truganina, Victoria started 
during the year and, once completed, will be the size of 
16 football fields, span almost 115,000 square metres, and 
incorporate new automation technology and sustainability 
features. The new DC will house a wider range of products and 
deliver greater efficiencies for more than 4,000 stores and 
premises in Victoria. We expect the new DC to be operational 
in mid 2024.

We are also upgrading our DC in Western Australian and 
expect this to be complete in early 2024.

ACCELERATING DIGITAL
We expanded both our IGA Shop Online and IGA Rewards 
loyalty programs in the year. IGA Shop Online is now live in over 
330 stores, with further expansion in FY24. The IGA Rewards 
loyalty program is continuing to be rolled out with the program 
currently in ~430 stores.

On demand rapid delivery is also performing well with 
partnerships currently with Uber Eats and DoorDash.

We also improved the digital experience for our retailers and 
suppliers with R.O.S.S (Retailer One Stop Shop) now live in all 
States, and integrated with our new Sorted platform (online 
retailer/supplier marketplace). Sorted is growing rapidly, with 
transactions in FY23 exceeding one million.

With a particular focus on 
providing value to shoppers 
through a broad and locally 
tailored range, competitive 
pricing, unique store experience, 
and exceptional customer 
service … it is these attributes 
that create a point of difference 
for our retailers that local 
communities value.

Our Price Match program was extended to all IGA stores in late 2022
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 LOCAL STORY

Bli Bli, Queensland 
Supa IGA Bli Bli, owned by Roz and Michael White since 
2004, has a reputation in the local community for good 
food and wonderful customer service. The Whites’ 
passionate support for local community groups, charities 
and small businesses makes them more than just a service 
provider, they’re an integral part of their community.

The Whites have been working with local chef Chris 
Sell, stocking his range of The Hatted Chef ready-made 
meals. With the same ethos and passion as the Whites for 
supporting local producers, The Hatted Chef uses high 
quality ingredients, sourced locally where possible.

SUPPORTING  
LOCAL SMALL BUSINESSES

Passionately supporting 
local suppliers 

Roz White, IGA Bli Bli, Queensland, with local supplier The Hatted Chef, and members of the local soccer club 

BLI BLI, QLD

SUNSHINE
COAST
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Hardware

Annette Welsh 
CEO, Independent Hardware Group

Tait Mitre 10  
Glen Iris, Victoria
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Our Hardware pillar comprises the 
Independent Hardware Group (IHG) and 
an 85% stake in Total Tools Holdings. 
The combined IHG and Total Tools network 
recorded retail sales of more than $4.5bn 
in FY23 from over 730 stores located in 
metro and regional areas across the country.
The Pillar achieved strong sales growth in the year of 10.6% 
normalised, to $3.4bn, with growth in both IHG and Total 
Tools. On a three-year basis, sales increased a substantial 
63.1% driven by strong activity levels and the contribution 
from strategic acquisitions. Demand remained robust in Trade 
and DIY, with Trade continuing to be underpinned by a strong 
pipeline of construction activity and an improvement in the 
availability of supply.

IHG
IHG is Australia’s largest home improvement wholesaler and the 
second-largest player in the Australian Hardware market. It is 
home to the well-known Mitre 10 and Home Hardware brands 
and supplies more than 1,500 hardware stores nationwide.

The network caters to Trade and DIY customers serviced from 
a broad range of store formats, including large warehouses 
to convenience operations and trade centres, as well as frame 
and truss sites.

The culture of IHG is built on being a low cost and transparent 
business partner to our retailer members, with an unwavering 
commitment to protect and grow a sustainable independent 
hardware sector for the long term.

	� Mitre 10
	� Home Hardware 

and related brands
	� Total Tools
	� Thrifty Link and 

True Value
	 Hardings/D10
	 Frame & Truss*
	� Distribution 

CentresVIC

TAS

WA
36 21 10

1

QLD
92 29 24

1

1 221

3538 176

NSW
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NT

1
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2
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3

18
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OUR BRANDS

NATIONAL STORE NETWORK

*�Includes bannered and 
unbannered Frame & 
Truss locations
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Total Tools provides significant 
growth opportunities for the 
Hardware pillar. In addition to 
strong demand for professional 
tools, the Pillar continues to 
grow through expansion of its 
store footprint, and through the 
acquisition of retail stores.

Hardware continued

The business continued to make good progress with its 
strategic initiatives, focused on expanding its store network 
and growing sales in both the Trade and DIY segments.

Store network
There were 10 new sites completed during the year. Three new 
stores were opened by independents, and there were seven 
acquisitions (including two frame and truss sites), reflecting 
further consolidation of the fragmented Trade market and our 
focus on securing independent businesses.

There are now five co-located Mitre 10 and Total Tools sites, 
with two in New South Wales, two in Victoria and one in South 
Australia. More co-located stores are expected to open in FY24.

Build Trade
Key to increasing our share of the supply component of a 
house build is the successful execution of our ‘Whole of House’ 
strategy. With CRM insights now across 500 builders, we 
can identify opportunities by build stage. We also now have 
six Design 10 showrooms open which offer a differentiated 
experience for builders and consumers.

Our network of Sapphire standard stand-alone Trade Centres 
has grown to 42, and we are well on track to reach our target 
of 50 Trade Centre stores by 2024. We also now have 20 frame 
and truss facilities within the network.

Grow DIY
Our DIY customer base continued to grow, with sales in this 
segment representing 37% of total Pillar sales in FY23. A key 
driver of growth in DIY is our highly effective Sapphire store 
upgrade strategy which continued to attract more DIY 
shoppers to IHG. It has also delivered great results for our 
retailers, with average sales growth of ~28% for the period 
following completion of the Sapphire upgrade.

The Sapphire strategy aims to ensure stores across the IHG 
network are leading edge and tailored to each store’s unique 
location in the community it serves. This includes having the 
right DIY product categories and service offer to engage and 
support local shoppers. We have continued to make good 
progress against our target of 300 upgraded stores by 2025, 
with 190 stores now through the program.

Another way we are attracting DIY shoppers to our stores is 
by strengthening our Mitre 10 and Home Hardware brands. 
We have moved to a ‘two-brand’ strategy with Mitre 10 being 
IHG’s primary brand, and Home Hardware positioned as a 
strong local brand, ensuring that each market has the most 
relevant and appropriate brand and format.

There were 364 Mitre 10 and 150 Home Hardware stores 
at the end of FY23. A further 30 Thrifty Link and True 
Value stores were converted to Home Hardware stores 
in the year. Our aim is to build a network of ~400 Mitre 10 
and ~200 Home Hardware Stores, with smaller brands 
encouraged to move to these stronger brands.

TOTAL TOOLS HOLDINGS
Total Tools Holdings is the franchisor to the largest professional 
tools network in Australia. It is a complementary business to IHG, 
targeting tradespeople that use professional tools for a living 
with an unrivalled range of the best professional brands in the 
world, together with professional service solutions and advice.

Total Tools provides significant growth opportunities for the 
Hardware pillar. In addition to strong demand for professional 
tools, the Pillar continues to grow through expansion of its store 
footprint, and through the acquisition of retail stores, usually 
via a joint venture with the existing independent owner.

Network expansion
A further 10 stores were added to the network in the 
year, increasing its size to 110 stores at the end of FY23. 
We are on track to build a network of ~140 stores by 
2026, with significant opportunities in New South Wales, 
Queensland, Western Australia and Victoria. We also 
continued to upgrade stores and now have the majority 
of the network (98 stores) refreshed under the Sapphire 
store upgrade program.

Joint venture/Company-owned stores
Our strategy of having a mix of independents and Metcash 
majority-owned joint venture (JV) stores has continued to 
prove successful. A further eight JV stores were acquired and 
three new JV stores were opened during the year to bring the 
total number of majority-owned JV and Company-owned 
stores to 46. Our target is to have ~50% of the store network 
as joint venture/Company-owned stores.

Mitre 10/Total Tools, Merimbula, New South Wales
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 LOCAL STORY

Rouse Hill, New South Wales 
Hudson Mitre 10 Trade Centre at Rouse Hill, 
New South Wales, has a longstanding relationship 
with their local soccer club the Quakers Hill Tigers. 

In addition to sponsoring the Under 13 Division 1 
side, there are strong links with the Hudson Trade 
Centre team. Site Manager Craig Mackey’s sons 
have all played for the club, and he has personally 
been involved as a coach. Daniel Mangion and 
Jacob Addison are in the all ages side, while rep 
Keith Houghton is a regular on the sideline watching 
his grandson. 

SUPPORTING COMMUNITY SPORT 

Quakers Hill Tigers Under 13 Division 1 team with Hudson Mitre 10 Trade Centre site manager Craig Mackey 

DIGITAL
We continue to invest in accelerating our digital solutions, 
offering a strong omni-channel shopping experience for 
consumers in-store, online and via app. Online sales represent 
6% of Hardware pillar sales in FY23, and the digital offer now 
includes over 80,000 SKUs.

We also saw continued growth in loyalty members, with 
1.4m customers now part of the Mitre 10 and Home Hardware 
loyalty programs. Total Tools also has a very loyal customer 
base with its market-leading Insider Loyalty program having 
over 1.8 members, representing 90% of its sales base 
(excluding commercial).

In Trade, we saw growth in the uptake of our Trade technology 
suite amongst the network and builders. The use of Trade 
technology allows IHG to focus on providing the builder with 
the tools they need to get in, get out and get on with the job at 
hand, reducing costs for the builder and driving loyalty.

ROUSE
HILL
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Liquor

Chris Baddock 
CEO, Metcash Liquor

Cellarbrations 
Rozelle, New South Wales
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Our Liquor pillar supplies ~90% of 
independent liquor stores in Australia, 
making us the second-largest player in 
the Australian liquor market. We are also 
home to nationally recognised liquor store 
brands such as Cellarbrations, The Bottle-O, 
Porters and IGA Liquor.
The Liquor pillar has a balanced mix of retail, on-premise and 
contract customers that stands us in good stead when it 
comes to dealing with external challenges.

Our independent retail network includes great retail stores 
that are conveniently located where customers want to shop 
with product ranges tailored for each store’s local community. 
We also have an evolving digital business and a growing owned 
and exclusive range of products.

The Liquor pillar continued to outperform in FY23, with total 
sales (including charge-through) up 8.3% on a normalised 
basis, to $5.1bn. There was continued growth in sales to retail 
and on-premise customers, with on-premise sales particularly 
strong driven by the addition of new customers and a return to 
out-of-home consumption post COVID-related restrictions. 
The Pillar has delivered substantial sales growth over the past 
three years of 37.7%.

AUSTRALIAN LIQUOR MARKETERS (ALM)
Our ALM division is the centre of the liquor pillar’s flywheel. 
We have a network of 14 DCs located across Australia and 
New Zealand, with five of these being ‘mega’ DCs which 
are shared with the Food pillar, delivering efficiencies and 
scale advantages that help support the competitiveness of 
our customers.

	� Distribution 
Centres

NT
43 QLD

590

NSW
863

WA
149

VIC
1,030

TAS
118

SA
158

ACT
106

NZ
371

OUR BRANDS

IBA NETWORK OF TIER ONE STORES
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Liquor continued

We supply over 14,000 licensed venues in Australia, servicing 
IBA (Independent Brands Australia) retail banner stores, large 
and small contract banner groups, unbannered liquor stores as 
well as licensed premises and eCommerce retailers.

DRIVING GREATER EFFICIENCIES
The year included launching ALM Connect, a new  
charge-through service endorsed by both retailers and suppliers 
which helps drive greater sales and efficiencies. ALM Connect 
includes an ‘extended aisle’ that grants access to an expanding 
range of non-warehoused products, all through the one ALM 
ordering portal. This provides greater choice to retailers and 
more sales opportunities for suppliers. It also streamlines the 
charge-through sales process through automation.

Scheduled for launch in FY24 is ALM’s Retailer One Stop 
Shop (R.O.S.S) platform. The new platform provides one 
location from which all ALM customers can access end-to-end 
information, online ordering and all their wholesale needs.

As an additional service to customers, we are rolling out our 
new Truck Tracker technology in all States of Australia. The 
technology enables delivery notifications to be provided to 
customers to help them keep track of their orders through our 
multiple delivery partners.

IBA STORE NETWORK
Our IBA network consists of over 3,000 stores across 
Australia and includes the well-known brands of Cellarbrations, 
The Bottle-O, IGA Liquor and Porters Liquor. State-based 
brands in our portfolio include Thirsty Camel Bottleshop 
and Duncans along with un-bannered Liquor@ stores. We 
also support an additional ~370 stores in New Zealand under 
The Bottle-O and Liquor Centre brands.

The network includes ~1,430 tier one retailers that are 
supported through a full array of retail services including 
receiving benefits from our national buying capacity, 
marketing support, promotional programs, network 
investment and through access to our growing portfolio 
of owned and exclusive brands.

The retail network again performed well during the year 
with strong demand buoyed by the success of our initiatives 
to improve the competitiveness of the network, a preference 
for local shopping and continuation of the at-home 
consumption trend.

In addition to our continued focus on product range, 
competitive prices and service, customers include the quality 
of stores in their assessment of value. The network continues 
to invest in improving the store experience for shoppers with 
a further 90+ stores and 70 cool rooms refreshed in the year.

OWNED AND EXCLUSIVE BRANDS
Sales of our owned and exclusive products continued to grow 
in FY23. Our investment to expand this range not only benefits 
Metcash, but also improves margins for our retailers while 
delivering excellent value to our shoppers.

Value is becoming increasingly important for some shoppers 
due to cost of living pressures and we are confident we have a 
wide range of brands and products that cater for all shoppers, 
whether they are looking for value or higher quality.

POETS beer was introduced in the year and gained significant 
support across the IBA network, as did the Cougar brand of 
bourbon which is exclusive to IBA and was relaunched during 
the year.

BUILDING BRANDS THROUGH 
VALUE AND LOYALTY
The year included the roll out of successful brand campaigns 
for Cellarbrations, The Bottle-O, IGA Liquor and Porters 
Liquor. Our focus is on further building brand awareness and 
appeal, which is being used as a platform for expanding the 
customer base for our retailers. We are also gaining new 
shoppers to the network through our loyalty program and 
value product offer.

Both the Cellarbrations Top Drop Rewards and The Bottle-O 
Rewards loyalty programs were launched in the year following 
the success of earlier pilot programs. These programs are 
designed to drive foot traffic, increase the retention of 
retailers, derive consumer insights and data and deliver a 
personalised offer for the shopper. Loyalty members receive 
access to exclusive member pricing and promotions based on 
their drinking preferences and behaviours.

Our Owned and Exclusive product range 

The Liquor pillar has continued 
to outperform with substantial 
sales growth of ~38% over the 
past three years.
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SUPPORTING LOCAL 
ECONOMIES

 LOCAL STORY

Blue Mountains, New South Wales 
Murray Croft and Charlotte Burns own three Porters 
Liquor stores in the Blue Mountains, New South Wales 
at Glenbrook, Blaxland East and Warrimoo. Their entry, 
and then rapid expansion, in the region has made a positive 
impact on the local economy, as an employer and distributor 
for local suppliers, as well as the ripple effect on surrounding 
stores who have benefitted from the increase in foot traffic. 

Murray’s stores specialise in craft beer, including local 
brewer Mountain Culture, voted Best Beer in Australia in 
the 2022 GABS (Great Australasian Beer SpecTAPular) 
Hottest 100, premium spirits and boutique wines. Porters 
Glenbrook won the NSW Porters Liquor Store of the Year 
award in 2021. 

Murray Croft, Murray’s Porters Liquor, Glenbrook, New South Wales 

BLUE MOUNTAINS, NSW

GLENBROOK

BLAXLAND

WARRIMOO
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OVERALL
ENVIRONMENT  
AND CLIMATE 

Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI)

87th 
percentile  
(up from 69th) 

Achieved interim 2030 emissions target for FY23

5.2%
decrease from FY22 
73,659tCO2-e

Carbon Disclosure Project

‘B’ 
assessment 

Solar PV system commissioned at Huntingwood

>700kwp

Sustainability finance facility established

$525m
Waste-to-landfill diversion goal by 2028

80% 
across all operational 
control sites 

Sustainability
FY23 Highlights
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OUR 
PEOPLE

COMMUNITY  
AND PRODUCTS 

Gender diversity target (40/40/20) achieved

50% 
female representation  
at Board level 

 Donations through IGA Community Chest program

$3.1m
30% increase  
on FY22 

Engagement Survey 

71st
percentile  
of internationally  
benchmarked companies  
(up 9 ppts from FY22)

Meals donated

>606K
as well as 22t of essential 
grocery items

Total Reportable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR)

19.9 
34% improvement

Battery recycling

Now available at 

>1,000
network stores
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FY23 marks a very important milestone for Metcash from 
a reporting perspective. The full Sustainability Report has 
been prepared for the first time with reference to the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI), and our climate-related disclosures 
are aligned to the Taskforce for Climate-Related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD). This ensures we are well positioned to 
adopt the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB) 
reporting framework when it becomes applicable for Metcash 
in FY25. 

A significant highlight this year was acknowledgement by 
Dow Jones of the substantial improvements made in our 
ESG credentials, positioning us in the 87th percentile of their 
Sustainability Index, up from the 69th percentile in FY22, 
reflecting our ongoing efforts to enhance sustainability 
practices across our operations.

We also received a ‘B’ assessment from the Carbon Disclosure 
Project, affirming our transparency and accountability in 
managing and reporting climate risks, as well as recognising 
the progress made to further improve energy efficiency and 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

The year also included establishing a sustainability-linked 
finance facility of $525m which creates a strong link between 
the cost of doing business and our sustainability credentials. 
We have performance requirements linked to the facility that 
include achieving our emissions and renewables targets, 
reducing waste to landfill and measures related to improving 
the wellbeing of our people. 

We believe our achievements help reinforce our dedication 
to sustainability and progress towards creating a more 
sustainable future, which is a key component of our 
corporate vision. 

OUR PLANET
We made good progress towards achieving our stated 
long-term sustainability goals and targets, including our 
commitment to the 1.5-degree 2030 Science Based Target 
(aligned to the Paris Agreement). Achievement of this target 
is equal to a 42% reduction in Scope 1 and 2 emissions from 
our 2020 baseline, and from here we are targeting to reach 
Net Zero by 2040 for Scope 1 and 2. This year our emissions 
reduced a further 5.2% to ~74k tonnes, in line with the trend 
required to reach the 2030 and 2040 targets. 

Our estimate of Scope 3 emissions was reassessed in FY23 
to be 1.158m tonnes, up from our estimate of ~860k tonnes 
during our baseline year of FY20. This means that ~94% of 
Metcash’s total carbon footprint is derived from upstream and 
downstream activity. We are currently assessing opportunities 
to help reduce Scope 3 emissions.

Our plans to minimise our environmental impact and foster a 
circular economy include the development and implementation 
of innovative waste management practices and increased 
recycling efforts. Reflecting our aim is the establishment this 
year of a new waste target of diverting 80% of waste to landfill 
by 2028, which encompasses all controlled sites across the 
Metcash organisation.

From a product perspective, we continue to ensure our private 
label brand standards are met. This includes our private label 
fresh pork, chicken, beef, lamb, milk and eggs all being 100% 
Australian raised or grown. We also ensure that we source 
100% RSPO certified sustainable palm oil and continue to work 
towards our 2025 goals of sustainably sourced tea, coffee, 
cocoa, paper-based products and seafood. 

This year’s highlights showcase 
our significant progress and 
ongoing commitment to 
environmental stewardship, 
social responsibility and 
governance.

Sustainability continued

Battery recycling is now available in over 450 hardware stores
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OUR PEOPLE
We are committed to creating an inclusive and equitable 
workplace that harnesses the diverse talents of our employees. 
We have achieved our 40/40/20 gender diversity target for 
the Board and Group Leadership, with 50% representation of 
women on the Metcash Board and 44% at Group Leadership 
level. This year we were again listed as an Employer of Choice 
by the Workplace Gender Equality Agency (WGEA), the fifth 
consecutive year, reflecting our commitment and progress 
in this area. 

Employee satisfaction, commitment to our organisation 
and alignment with our purpose of Championing Successful 
Independents is key to our success. Our continued focus 
on making Metcash ‘a favourite place to work’ led to our 
employee engagement results placing us at the 71st percentile 
of internationally benchmarked companies for salaried 
(TEC) employees. 

Ensuring the safety and wellbeing of our employees is our 
highest priority. This year we revised our Safety, Health and 
Environment (SHE) Strategy and established both short- 
and long-term initiatives aimed at preventing work-related 
injuries and illnesses to team members, contractors and 
visitors at our sites, as well as in our supply chain. Pleasingly, 
there was a reduction in recordable injuries in the year of 
over 34%, compared to the prior year. Our focus is broad and 
includes supporting our independent retailers to also improve 
their safety. 

OUR COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMERS
We believe in supporting and giving back to the communities 
in which we operate. Through our IGA Community Chest 
program we donated $3.1 m to community groups in the 
year, an increase of 30% on last year. We also donated over 
606,000 meals and 22 tonnes of essential grocery items via 
Foodbank and other charities. 

We continued to make progress in protecting the rights of 
people in our supply chain. This included tailoring and updating 
our modern slavery awareness training for procurement 
teams, closing-out findings from SEDEX (Supplier Ethical 
Data Exchange) social audits, and further expanding the use 
of supplier surveys to help identify areas of concern. We are 
also in the process of rolling out a pilot program that provides 
a worker voice platform to improve our ability to hear directly 
from potentially vulnerable workers in our supply chain.

We have commenced implementing the Health Star Rating 
(HSR) on all eligible private label products, with completion 
expected by the end of FY25. We are also active participants 
in the Australian Government’s Healthy Food Partnership, 
with reformulation targets set for reducing the use of salt, 
sugar and saturated fat. 

For further detail, please refer to the full Sustainability Report 
published on our website: www.metcash.com/sustainability in 
August 2023. 

Metcash employees receive a safety demonstration at Huntingwood DC The Bottle-O donated to the Winwood family in Tasmania to help their 
grandson fighting childhood cancer
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Our People

Peter Birtles
Non-executive Chairman

Doug Jones
Group CEO,  
Executive Director

Mark Johnson
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Margaret Haseltine
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Christine Holman
Independent  
Non-executive Director

BSc Hons, FCA, MAICD

Member of the Safety and 
Sustainability Committee 
and the Technology Advisory 
Working Group

BComm, Accounting, 
Tax, Auditing, Information 
Systems, CA (SA)

BCom, CPA, FCA, FAICD

Member of the Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee, 
and Chair of the Technology 
Advisory Working Group 

BA, FAICD

Chair of the People, 
Culture and Nomination 
Committee and member 
of the Technology Advisory 
Working Group

MBA, PG Dip Mgt, GAICD

Chair of the Safety and 
Sustainability Committee 
and member of the Audit, 
Risk and Compliance 
Committee

Our Board

Doug Jones
CEO, Metcash Group

BComm, Accounting, 
Tax, Auditing, Information 
Systems, CA (SA)

Doug Jones is an experienced 
executive with extensive 
global wholesale, retail and 
eCommerce experience. 
Before joining Metcash as 
CEO in 2022, Doug was CEO 
and Senior Vice President 
of Massmart Wholesale, 
which is majority-owned 
by Walmart Inc. and listed 
on the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange. 

Doug is a qualified 
Chartered Accountant and 
has previously held senior 
finance positions in Makro 
SA, Amalgamated Beverages 
Industries Limited and The 
South African Breweries, all 
in Johannesburg, Coca-Cola 
Enterprises in Canada, and 
Deloitte in both Canada and 
South Africa.

B.Ec (Sydney), CA, MAICD

Alistair joined Metcash in 
2020 as the Group CFO. 
Alistair has extensive capital 
markets experience and 
executive leadership in 
managing international  
organisations with portfolios 
of businesses.

Alistair has held various 
CFO, COO and strategy 
positions in a range of 
industries with ASX-listed, 
private equity and multi-
national corporations. 
Most recently, he was the 
Group CFO of GrainCorp 
for almost 10 years. Alistair 
has broad experience as a  
Non-executive Director, 
including as Chairman of 
Audit & Risk Committees.

Grant was promoted to 
CEO of Metcash Food in 
2023 after four years as 
Executive General Manager, 
Merchandise, and a further 
four years as State General 
Manager, Supermarkets in 
Western Australia. He has 
been a key contributor to 
the strong performance of 
both the Food pillar and the 
IGA network in recent years, 
working closely with leading 
retailers and suppliers to 
improve IGA’s competitive 
position and deliver 
sustainable growth.

Prior to joining Metcash in 
2015, Grant held several 
senior roles at Coles Liquor 
across merchandise, 
marketing, operational 
leadership, business 
development, critical 
projects and exclusive 
brands. His earlier career 
included 10 years with 
Oddbins, the UK’s then  
pre-eminent Wine Merchant, 
initially in retail stores and 
then in buying.

Annette is a highly 
regarded executive with 
over 30 years of global 
experience across retail, 
wholesale and logistics. 

Annette was appointed CEO 
of Independent Hardware 
in 2020, and in the decade 
prior held several senior roles 
at Metcash in Hardware, 
including General Manager, 
Operations and General 
Manager, Merchandise. 

Prior to joining Metcash in 
2010, Annette held senior 
management positions at 
Marks & Spencer in the UK 
and IBM. 

GradCertBus

Chris joined Metcash in 
July 2019 as CEO of Australia 
Liquor Marketers (ALM).

Chris has over 30 years 
of experience in FMCG 
including Lion and 
Woolworths. Prior to joining 
Metcash in 2019, Chris was 
Director of Pinnacle Drinks, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of 
the Woolworths’ Endeavour 
Drinks Group.

Chris Baddock
CEO, Australian  
Liquor Marketers

Grant Ramage
CEO, Metcash Food

Annette Welsh
CEO, Independent  
Hardware Group

Alistair Bell
CFO, Metcash Group
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M.Sc. Engineering

Prior to joining Metcash in 
October 2022, Marij was 
the SVP and Global CIO 
of The Bountiful Company 
(now part of Nestlé Health 
Science). Previously, she 
worked at Dairy Farmers of 
America, where she delivered 
expanded services and value 
to the ‘fiercely independent’ 
member network. 

Marij’s professional career 
started in the early days of 
SAP in Germany, and she 
has held several IT leadership 
roles over the years covering 
IT strategy, applications 
modernisation, IT business 
operations improvement, 
shared services, 
agile transformation, 
cloud migration, data 
management, security/
compliance, digital 
commerce and analytics. 

B.A (Hons), Economics

Simon is a globally 
experienced executive with 
over 25 years’ experience 
focused on FMCG and retail 
businesses, strategy and 
transformation. He worked 
most recently with Lion 
Nathan as Group Strategy 
and Corporate Development 
Director. Prior to that he 
worked across strategy and 
business transformation at 
Partners in Performance and 
Momentum Partners (now 
part of KPMG).

Prior to emigrating to 
Australia in 2010, Simon 
worked in London for Bupa 
as Customer Proposition and 
Strategy Director building on 
his experience as a Director 
in investment bank Dresdner 
Kleinwort’s European food, 
consumer and retail group 
and as a strategy consultant 
with McKinsey & Co serving 
consumer and retail clients.

MBA (Mkt), BDes (Vis Comm) 

In 2023 Danielle was 
promoted to Group Chief 
People & Culture Officer, 
from her previous roles 
as General Manager of 
Marketing and Executive 
General Manager of Retail, 
Metcash Food. 

Prior to joining Metcash in 
2018, Danielle held positions 
with Woolworths, Goodman 
Fielder and L’Oreal UK. 

Danielle has over 20 years 
of industry experience 
with suppliers, retailers and 
wholesalers. She has held 
a variety of leadership roles 
spanning sales, commercial, 
marketing and operations, 
in both Australia and 
UK markets.

B Asian Studies (Viet), LLB, 
LLM, GAICD 

Julie was appointed as 
Company Secretary in 
2016, and promoted to Chief 
Legal, Risk and Compliance 
Officer in June 2022. She 
joined Metcash from law 
firm Baker & McKenzie, 
where she was a partner who 
specialised in mergers and 
acquisitions, private equity 
and corporate restructures. 
Julie is a Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Simon Burton
Chief Strategy and 
Transformation Officer, 
Metcash Group

Marij Kouwenhoven 
Chief Technology Officer 

Danielle Jenkinson 
Group Chief People & 
Culture Officer 

Julie Hutton 
Chief Legal, Risk and 
Compliance Officer & 
Company Secretary

Murray Jordan
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Helen Nash
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Julie Hutton
Company Secretary

MPA and MAICD

Member of the People, 
Culture and Nomination 
Committee and Safety and 
Sustainability Committee 

BA Hons, GAIDC

Chair of the Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee 
and member of the People, 
Culture and Nomination 
Committee

B Asian Studies (Viet), LLB, 
LLM, GAICD
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

submit their report of Metcash Limited (the ‘Company’) and its controlled entities (together the ‘Group’ or ‘Metcash’) for 
(‘FY2 ’).

 METCASH’S BUSINESS MODEL
Metcash is Australia’s leading wholesaler and distributor, supplying and supporting 

Metcash’s 
retail customers operate some of Australia’s leading independent brands including: IGA, Foodland, Mitre 10, Home Hardware, To

We help them to be the ‘Best Store in Town’ by providing me

chains and other competitors. The Group’s core competencies include: proc

 
Metcash’s purpose is ‘Championing successful independents’. Metcash’s vision includes:

− 
− 
− 
− 
− 
− 

MFuture

new growth areas, improving the Group’s infrastructure to enable simpler and cheaper processes 

 
ndependent retail stores (‘ ’)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

by Metcash’s ability to maintain its current systems longer than

better understanding of the Group’s results.

Details of Directors’ experience and qualifications are included within this report.

 

Metcash’s operations are designed to allow significant volumes to be distributed through its warehouse infrastructure at a re

In addition to warehouse revenue, earnings are impacted by product category mix and the proportion of the Group’s products bo

The Group’s profitability depends on the efficiency and effectiveness of its operating model. This is achieved by optimising the Group’s 
cost of doing business (‘CODB’) which comprises the various costs of operating the distribution centres

MFuture

The Group’s funds employed is 

The Board’s intention is to continue to invest in the business

Section 5 of this report provides an overview of the Group’s 
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Metcash’s

defined or specified under any relevant accounting standards and may not be directly comparable with other companies’ info

 

Underlying earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’)

Underlying profit after tax (‘UPAT’) (a)

 
 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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— —

There has been a noticeable change in some shoppers behaviour from early calendar 2023, to focus more on ‘value’ items.
ain the majority of shoppers gained in recent years with ‘foot traffic’ increasing.

and increased focus on value was seen in a flat average ‘basket size’.
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Project Horizon

—

Project Horizon

Project 
Horizon

Total Tools ‘JV Stores’

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Group’s net debt position
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

 

store retail options.  These changes may impact Metcash’s sales mix and earnings. Metcash’s strategy puts customers and consumers 

etcash’s business operations and strategic priorities are subject to ongoing review and development. Management regularly rev

Whilst the pandemic has ended, the Group’s operations and those of our customers and suppliers could be impacted by COVID

directly to the Group’s customers, whe

on the Group’s operations,
example, as a result of the time required to engage with the Group’s independent retail network in order to implement an init

ed competition may also adversely impact Metcash’s long

Metcash’s success in generating profits and

construction markets, and changes in consumer purchasing behaviour may adversely impact our customers as well as Metcash’s 

impact Metcash’s operations and supply chain, resulting in delay or unavailability of certain products or inputs, increased c

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

As Australia’s leading wholesaler, Metcash is reliant upon the success of its suppliers and retailers. Metcash continue
programs to improve the health of the independent retail network and improving Metcash’s infrastructure to make it simpler to

Disruption to, or inefficiency or failure within Metcash’s supply chain, product sourcing ability, or of key support systems 
the Group’s ability to deliver on its objectives, its operational capability and financial performance. We seek to man

Metcash’s operations require compliance with various

n impacts.  The Group’s internal processes are periodically assessed and tested as part of risk and assurance 

egulations, could materially impact Metcash’s operational and financial performance, through increased expenditure on complia

h’s financial results. While Metcash has in place insurances that it considers are sufficient for a business of its type and 

Metcash’s ability to reduce its cost of doing business is critical to support independent retailers in remaining competitive 

risk associated with the Group’s activities. Metcash’s strategy is to support successful independents through appropriate cre

initiatives and absorb potential loss events that may arise. Inability to adequately fund the Group’s business operations and
plans may lead to difficulty in executing the Group’s strategy. Metcash maintains a prudent app

erial adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance and position.  We seek to manage these risks through maintaining 

The Group’s financial risk management framework is discussed in further detail in note 5.6 of the financial statements.

43About Reports Pillars Sustainability Our People Financial ReportDirectors’ Report



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

h’s ability to operate efficiently is critical to support independent retailers in remaining competitive.  A disruption to th
could result in an increased cost to serve retailers and inability to meet customers’ requirements. 

sh’s long

ract this too could adversely impact Metcash’s long

ld adversely impact Metcash’s long

r’s and supplier’s business partner of choice; underpinned by an effective and efficient 

in a breach of privacy and security regulations and/or impact Metcash’s commercially sensitive inform
to penalties (including financial penalties) and could adversely affect Metcash’s operating and financial position or cause r

Metcash is committed to ‘Championing successful independents’ and a key element of this is underpinn

Metcash has a moderate exposure to environmental risks. Metcash’s operations could be impacted by natural disasters, extreme 

physical and transitional risks of climate change on the Group’s operations. The main drivers of 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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risks. Our business and our people are driven by our purpose of ‘Championing 
successful independents’, and Metcash is proud to support independent retailers who are at the heart of local communities across 

–

(Cth), Metcash has been declared a ‘critical food and grocery asset’, which will require it to implement certain measures to 

tion is critical to Metcash’s success. Similarly, the 

yees, this may adversely affect the Group’s operations and overall financial 

Interruptions at Metcash’s workplaces arising from industrial disputes, work stoppages and accidents may result in production
llective agreements may increase Metcash’s operating costs and may involve disputes.  We seek to 

the Group’s cultural values align with their values. Integrity is the foundation of the ethical values and standards of behav
employees through the Group’s Code of Conduct.

ntive schemes align the Group’s remuneration structure to shareholders’ 

1

–
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Having over 30 years’ experience in retail and consumer goods 

Senior Vice President of Massmart Wholesale, which includes ‘big 
box’ format food, liquor, and general merchandise stores serving 

raises funds for the National Children’s Hospital (

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Mark has 35 years’ experience as an accountant and senior partner 
with Coopers & Lybrand and then PwC, including as PwC’s 
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The following table presents information relating to membership and attendance at meetings of the Company’s Board of Director
The information reflects those meetings held and attended during a Director’s period 

—

   

—

—

—

—

—

—

— 5 5

— 7 7

— 5 5

— 7 7 

— 2 2 

— 6 6

— 6 6

— 6 5

2 2 

 
 

— 2 2 

— 2 2 

— 2 2 

1 1 

— 1 1

— 1 1

— 1 1

— 1 1 

— 1 1 

 
 
 
 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Incentive (‘STI’) and Long Term Incentive (‘LTI’) components and is 

peer group, but due to the Group’s

Incentive (‘STI’) deferral 
Group Chief Executive Officer’s (‘Group CEO’) STI deferral from 33% to 

Financial Officer (‘Group CFO’), we will increase the 

MFuture

improvement in the Company’s ESG credentials as outlined in the 
Company’s FY23 results presentation, with further detail to be provided 
in this year’s Sustainability Report.
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of the Group CEO’s 

Food’s remuneration

appointment, the incoming Chair’s fees were set at the market median 

members, as is reported above.  This year’s engagement survey was a 

keeping with our ‘pay for performance’ principles, with our exceptional 

(MONTHLY 
PAID TEAM MEMBERS ONLY) 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Directors present the Remuneration Report for the Company and its controlled entities (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 30 Apr
(‘FY2 ’). This report forms part of the Directors’ Report and has been audited in accordance with section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 
2001

The report sets out the remuneration arrangements for the Group’s Key Management Personnel (KMP), comprising its Non
Directors (‘NED’), Group CEO and Group Executives of Metcash, who togeth

Chief Executive Officer, Australian Liquor Marketers (‘ALM’)

Chief Executive Officer, Independent Hardware Group (‘IHG’)
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The following diagram illustrates Metcash’s remuneration governance framework.

Corporations Act 2001

COMMITTEE (‘P&CC’)

‑

COMMITTEE (‘ARCC’)

Group’s financial results 

Board’s 

as a substitute for the Committee’s 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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‘Championing 
successful 

Independents’

      

Employment Cost (‘TEC’).

ther KMP’s vested 

 Represents Mr Jones’ and Mr Marshall’s
‘ ’ for

KMP Total Reward  
Relationship to Peer 
Group Benchmark
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 ‘At risk’ STI plan 

The ‘at risk’ STI plan provides executives the opportunity to earn an incentive that is contingent upon performance against a 

Budget or ‘Target’ EBIT 

Once an STI pool is released for distribution and scaled as noted above, a participant’s individual STI award is 
based on individual performance and behaviours. An individual’s overall performance rating is equally 

collective individual participants’ results are distributed in a manner consistent with a normal distribution curve.

Deliver Financial Results 1

2

2

Project Horizon3

4

5

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED

54 Metcash Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The maximum reward is only paid on achievement of ‘stretch’ outcomes, which include:
− 

(‘STI pool’);

− 
measures contained in the individual’s Balanced Scorecard; and 

− An exceptional or successful rating against Metcash’s behaviours framework.

isstatement of the Group’s financial statements.
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 ‘At risk’ LTI plan 

The Group’s LTIs are designed to enable Metcash to attract and retain key executives

The grant is subject to the Board’s absolute discretion. 

KMP LTI awards are subject to clawback for cause or material misstatement of the Group’s financial 
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following Mr Jones’ achievement of the 

to Mr Jones’ on 29 March 2023 and are restricted for 

Mr Marshall’s achievement of the performance 

Upon Mr Marshall’s resignation in January 2023, the 

To secure Mr Jones’ appointment, Mr Jones’ on

− 
− 

Group’s annual budget and STI metrics.

In addition, Mr Jones’ ongoing performance and 

− 

− 

to the Group’s annual budget and STI metrics. 

In addition, Mr Marshall’s ongoing performance and 

The grant is subject to the Board’s absolute discretion. 

The grant is subject to clawback for cause or material misstatement of the Group’s financial statements. 
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Metcash’s financial performance and percentage of maximum STI paid to KMP in the five

 

delivered EBIT results at ‘maximum’/’above target’ vesting level with Group EBIT increasing 6.0% on FY22 outcomes. Acco

EBIT results. All pillars delivered EBIT results above the ‘maximum’ vesting level 

to the ‘on target’ level. The Liquor pillar was determined to have performed ‘on target’ and the Hardware pillar ‘below target’. 
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 Represents Mr Jones’ FY22 Group CEO buy out grant (Tranche 1) which vested at 100% following Mr Jones’ achievement of the performance measures. The 

 Represents Mr Marshall’s FY22 CEO Food retention LTI grant (Tranche 1) which vested at 100% following Mr Marshall’s achieveme

 

 

Metcash’s performance in FY23 

The Board view these FY23 STI outcomes as an appropriate recognition of the KMP’s performance. This outcome also recognises t
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Project Horizon

 

The table below reflects the KMP’s FY2

 
 

 
Bell’s FY23 STI reward which was deferred and

 
relation to 25% of Mr Marshall’s FY23 STI reward which was deferred 
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—
—
—
—
—

subsequently vested on 15 April 2023 following the KMP’s completion of the service co

‘At risk’ Long

 The grant entitlement is expressed as a percentage of the face value of performance rights divided by the participants’ annua
 

 

Project Horizon 
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 re allocated to Mr Jones’ 
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(other KMP) of STI ‘at risk’ equity component. Each remuneration component is shown as a percentage of total remuneration 

 Represents Mr Jones’ and Mr Marshall’s Section 4.3 ‘
’ for

 

 

 

 

n the event of cessation of employment, a KMP’s unvested performance rights will ordinarily lapse, however, this is subject t

 

2

1
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The objectives of Metcash’s policy regarding Non

− 

− 

To align individual interests with shareholders’ interests, Non
Directors fund their own share purchases and must comply with Metcash’s share trading policy. 

executive Directors of one year’s base fees to be accumulated in 
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and ‘at risk’ remuneration

— — — — — — — —
—

 

 

 

 
 Mr Jones’ LTI ect Mr Jones’

 
 

in relation to 25% of Mr Bell’s FY23 STI reward which was deferred and

 June 2023. The amounts disclosed above reflect Mr. Marshall’

in relation to 25% of Mr Marshalls’ FY23 STI reward which was deferred and will remain on foot 

Marshall’s performance rights entitlements under all other LTI plans on foot, including the FY22
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—
—
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audit services undertaken by, and amounts paid to the Company’s auditor, EY Australia are detailed in note 7.2 of the 

Corporations Act 2001

The auditor’s inde
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023
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The financial statements of Metcash Limited (the ‘Company’) and its controlled entities (together the ‘Group’) for the year e

Directors’ 

 

 

Corporations Act 2001

ASIC Corporations Instrument 2016/191

amendments do not impact the Group’s financial results and do not have any significant impact on the Group’s balance sheet.

 

p’s 

 
 

Group’s reporting date have been consolidate
statutory accounts, together with consequential delay in producing the Group’s financial statements, would outweigh any benef

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the following judge

 –
purchase goods through the Group’s charge

 

 

 –

 
influence over the Group’s acquisitions. Where the Group exercises 
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which the Group operates. The Group’s reportable segments are therefore as follows:

− 

− 

− 

’

Group underlying earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’)

 

The Group’s revenue principally arises from the sale of goods within its wholesale distribution and retail operations. Sales 

through platform whereby goods are delivered directly to the Group’s customers by suppliers. The Gro

through transactions are therefore reported on an agency or net ‘commission’ basis

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2023 CONTINUED

76 Metcash Annual Report 2023



 

 
–
–

—
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Project Horizon

cash’s ability to maintain its current systems longer than 

better understanding of the Group’s results.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s put option liabilities at balance date were remeasured to reflect the estimated put optio

The Group continues to invest in its mega DC’s capacity, capabilities, footprint & supply chain systems to support current an

make good provisions associated with the planned move to the new DC in Truganina, Victoria as disclosed in Metcash’s FY22 Fin
 MFuture  
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At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of
–

—

Income Taxes

funding results in an increase/decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head 
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− 

− 

 

− 
− 

− 
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–

—

–

 

their Amex customer charge cards. Metcash’s trade receivable is settled in full by Amex. Amex subsequently collects the amoun

million) is included within trade and other payables, with no impact to the Group’s net ass
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measured at the transaction price determined under the ‘ Revenue’ significant accounting policy (Note 

p’s 

Group’s historical 
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
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asset portfolio and align with the Group’s business needs. The extension options are 
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Right-of-use assets 

Impairment of Assets

Depreciation 

Lease liabilities 

Lease receivables 

re recognised as lease receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the lease. Lease 

reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.
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Group’s interests in associates and joint ven

 
 

The principal place of business for all of the Group’s equity

 Share of investees’ 

’

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the investment

Carrying amount of the Group’s investment

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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— —

 

At the reporting date, the Group’s share of unrecognised gains or losses is not material.

Refer note 7.3 for details of the Group’s contingent liabilities in relation to equity

The Group’s investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. Associates are those enti

quisition changes in the Group’s 

Group’s reporting date have 
statutory accounts, together with consequential delay in producing the Group’s financial statements, would outweigh any benef

 

— —

Group’s share of profit for the year
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Impairment of equity-accounted investments 

 

—
—
—
—

—

—
—
—
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—
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—
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over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’

Intangible Assets

are amortised over the assets’ useful economic

Intangible Assets

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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generating units (or ‘CGU’s) –

l and indefinite life intangibles are allocated to the Group’s CGUs as follows:

Assessment of recoverable amounts 

 

Key assumptions used in assessment 

− –

future uncertainty over the Group’s operating cash flows.

− – Discount rates are based on the weighted average cost of capital (‘WACC’) for the Group adjusted for an asset

− –

Results of assessment 

of goodwill was identified in any of the Group’s CGUs.

Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions  
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asset’s value in use cannot be estimat
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Wages, salaries, incentives, annual leave and sick leave 

recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expecte

Long service leave 
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–

–
–

note 5.6 for details of the Group’s core borrowing facilities. The core borrowings of the Group must comply with two primary 

There were no defaults or breaches on the Group’s core borrowings in 

–
Group’s 
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spective store’s EBITDA over 
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Consolidated Financial Statements

accounted investment on the Group’s balance sheet. The remaining shareholders in Ritchies have the 

(‘hurdle’) being achieved.

s’ annual 
audited financial report (‘group put option’ representing the remaining
minority shareholders within a prescribed period (‘small shareholder put option’).

Whilst the financial hurdle was achieved in respect of Ritchies’ 20

% stake in Ritchies) exercised their option under the ‘small 
shareholder put option’ in relation to Ritchies’ 2022 financial year, bringing Metcash’s share in Ritchies to 

ill be determined with reference to Ritchies’ results for that 
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— —

million of transaction costs, were debited to the Company’s profit reserve and share capital 

— —
— —
— —

— —
— —

— —
— —
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The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and overdrafts, leases, cash and short
The main purpose of these instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group also has various other financial assets

ing from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are detailed below. The objective of the Group’s 

’

The Group’s primary source

—

—

—

—
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During the year, as part of refinancing the Group’s syndicated facilities
with Metcash’s

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on contracted date  

–

— —
—

— —
—

–
— — —
— — —

— —

—
— —

—

–
— — —
— — —
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The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank debt obligations with a floating 

Financial 
Instruments

The Group’s treasury policy provides percentage ranges across yearly periods for the interest rate hedging of net debt. 

–
–
–

– —

p’s 
) change in the Group’

%) of the Group’s 

The Group is exposed to credit risk on ‘back back’ arrangements contained within its property leases
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of the Group’s total sales

− 
− 

 

the Group’s capital management, capital includes all accounts classified as equity on the Statement of Financial 
Position. The Board’s intention is to continue to invest in the business for future growth while maintaining a strong financi

posed under the Group’s banking facilities (refer to note 
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Total Tools ‘JV stores’

‘JV Stores’.

–

Put and call options written over non-controlling interests 

Consolidated Financial Statements

Purchase consideration – cash outflow 

–

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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–

—

—

—

Company’s constitution. 
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A list of the Group’s subsidiaries is included in Appendix B and a list of equity

–

–

–
–

— —

–
— —

− 

− 

− 

− 

− 

with the above entities are conducted on an arm’s length basis in the ordinary course of business.
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–

–

conditions: Return on Funds Employed (‘ROFE’) and Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three

conditions: Return on Funds Employed (‘ROFE’) and Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three

conditions: Return on Funds Employed (‘ROFE’) and Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three

dles align to the Group’s annual budget and STI metrics. In addition, the Group CEO’s ongoing 

illar’s In addition, the CEO Food’s 

Project Horizon Project Horizon
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–
Share-based payments

–

Share-based payments

– – –

– – –

evaluation of the historical volatility of Metcash’s share price, particularly over the
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Project Horizon

 

 
 Mr Marshall’s
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The key terms of the ‘LTI’ and ‘STI plan – deferred component’ plans include:

 

 
 
 

 

 

 Some or all of a participant’s performance rights may vest even if a performance condition has not been satisfied, if, using 

 

 

− 

− 

− 

 

Capital expenditure commitments 
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–
 

− Disclosure of Accounting Policies

− Definition of Accounting Estimates

− Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

 

− Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

− Lease liability in sale and leaseback

− Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The above standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements in the year of their i
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–

Clancy’s Food Stores Pty Ltd
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—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—
—
—

 

Certain controlled entities of Metcash Limited, collectively referred to as the ‘Closed Group’, are party to a Deed of Cross 
ASIC Corporations (Wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 2016/785 (Instrument)

Corporations Act 2001
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

 

 dditional disclosures included in the directors’ report designated as audited, of 
Corporations Act 2001

 the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 April 

 Corporations Regulations 
2001

 International Financial Reporting Standards

 

 
Corporations Act 2001

 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 
 

 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Metcash Limited 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Metcash Limited for the financial year ended 30 April 2023, I 
declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 

a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; 

b) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c) No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to 
the audit 

 
This declaration is in respect of Metcash Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial year. 
 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
Christopher George 
Partner 
26 June 2023 

 
 
  

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 
 

 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Metcash Limited 
 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Metcash Limited for the financial year ended 30 April 2023, I 
declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 

a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to 
the audit; 

b) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and 

c) No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to 
the audit 

 
This declaration is in respect of Metcash Limited and the entities it controlled during the financial year. 
 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
Christopher George 
Partner 
26 June 2023 

 
 
  

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 
 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Metcash Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2023, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2023 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our 
report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond 
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial 
report.

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

 Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of Metcash Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 April 2023, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

a. Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2023 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and 

b. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our report. We are independent of the 
Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description 
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of our 
report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond 
to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial 
report.
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

 

 

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets 

► Why significant 1. How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

At 30 April 2023, the Group’s consolidated statement of 
financial position includes goodwill and other intangible 
assets with a carrying value $895.1 million, representing 
16.6% of total assets. The Group recognised $42.2 million in 
goodwill and other intangible assets arising from business 
acquisitions during the year.  
The directors have assessed goodwill and other intangible 
assets for impairment. As disclosed within Note 4.7 to the 
financial statements, the assessment of the impairment of 
the Group’s goodwill and other intangible assets 
incorporated significant judgments and estimates, based 
upon conditions existing as at 30 April 2023, specifically 
concerning factors such as forecast cashflows, discount 
rates and terminal growth rates. 
The estimates and assumptions relate to the sustainability 
of future performance, market and economic conditions. 
Significant assumptions used in the impairment testing 
referred to above are inherently subjective. 
The disclosures in the financial report provide important 
information about the assumptions made in the impairment 
testing and the market conditions at 30 April 2023.  
Accordingly, we considered the impairment testing of 
goodwill and other intangible assets and the related 
disclosures in the financial report to be a key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
► Assessed the Group’s determination of the cash 

generating units (CGUs) used in the impairment 
model, based on our understanding of the nature 
of the Group’s business and the economic 
environment in which the segments operate. We 
also considered internal reporting of the Group’s 
results to assess how earnings and goodwill are 
monitored and reported. 

► Assessed the Group’s allocation of additional 
goodwill arising from business combinations to 
CGUs used in the impairment model. 

► Assessed the cash flow forecasts, assumptions 
and estimates used by the Group, as outlined in 
Note 4.7 to the financial statements, by 
considering the reliability of the Group’s historical 
cash flow forecasts, our knowledge of the 
business and corroborating data with external 
information where possible. 

► Considered the impact on the cash flow forecasts 
related to the group’s climate change 
commitments. 

► Evaluated the appropriateness of discount and 
terminal growth rates applied with involvement 
from our valuation specialists. 

► Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
impairment testing models including the 
consistency of relevant data with latest Board 
approved forecasts. 

► Performed sensitivity analysis on key assumptions 
including discount rates, terminal growth rates 
and EBIT forecasts for each of the Group’s CGUs. 

► Assessed the adequacy of the financial report 
disclosures contained in Note 4.7. 
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Accounting for Rebates 

► Why significant 2. How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Note 4.3 of the financial report outlines the Group’s 
accounting policy relating to supplier rebates, or supplier 
income as they are referred to in the financial report.  
The Group receives rebates and other similar incentives 
from suppliers which are determined based upon a number 
of measures which can include volumes of inventory 
purchased or sold and the performance of promotional 
activities.  
We considered this to be a key audit matter as supplier 
rebates contributed significantly to the Group’s results. 
There are a large number of specific agreements in place 
and some of the arrangements require judgment to be 
applied in determining the timing of rebate recognition and 
the appropriate classification within the financial 
statements, based upon the terms of the agreement. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
► Evaluated the Group’s processes and design of 

controls relating to the recognition and valuation of 
rebate amounts recognised and classified within the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

► Assessed the operating effectiveness of relevant 
controls in place relating to the recognition and 
measurement of purchase-volume based and non 
purchase-volume based rebates. 

► Selected a sample of supplier rebates including non 
purchase-volume based rebates received and 
recorded as receivables at year-end and assessed 
whether the income was correctly calculated and 
recognised in the correct period. 

► Considered the Group’s assessment of the value of 
rebates associated with inventory on hand at year end 
that were deducted from the carrying value of 
inventory. 

► Considered the impact of supplier claims during and 
subsequent to year end on amounts recognised. 

► Inquired of the Group as to the existence of any non-
standard agreements or side arrangements. 

 

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Group’s 2023 Annual Report other than the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the directors’ report 
that is to be included in the Annual Report, prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining 
sections of the Annual Report after the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and our related assurance opinion.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.   
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Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control.  

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of 
the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  

Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 51 to 67 of the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 April 2023. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Metcash Limited for the year ended 30 April 2023, complies with section 300A of 
the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based 
on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

 

Ernst & Young 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Christopher George 
Partner 
Sydney 
26 June 2023 
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Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. 
The information is current as at 7 July 2023.

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITIES
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class of share is:

Size of holding
Number of 

shareholders

1–1,000 8,623

1,001–5,000 11,888

5,001–10,000 4,772

10,001–100,000 3,928

100,001+ 142

Total 29,353

There were 1,183 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of Metcash ordinary shares.

TWENTY LARGEST HOLDERS OF QUOTED SHARES
The names of the 20 largest holders of quoted shares are:

Name
Number

of shares
Percentage

of shares

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 290,139,826 30.05%

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 170,471,324 17.66%

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 157,425,888 16.30%

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 46,798,787 4.85%

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <COLONIAL FIRST STATE INV A/C> 38,546,001 3.99%

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 33,868,799 3.51%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <NT-COMNWLTH SUPER CORP A/C> 6,770,805 0.70%

BKI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 3,621,084 0.38%

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <AGENCY LENDING DRP A/C> 3,616,341 0.37%

BUTTONWOOD NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,174,055 0.33%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,859,552 0.30%

BNP PARIBAS NOMS (NZ) LTD <DRP> 2,672,838 0.28%

CERTANE CT PTY LTD <METCASH EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN> 2,628,611 0.27%

NAVIGATOR AUSTRALIA LTD <SMA ANTARES INV DV BUILD A/C> 2,446,028 0.25%

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 2,215,760 0.23%

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD HUB24 CUSTODIAL SERV LTD <DRP A/C> 2,154,057 0.22%

UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,026,721 0.21%

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 1,967,226 0.20%

POWERWRAP LIMITED <ESCALA SMA TRADING A/C> 1,586,073 0.16%

NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <WRAP SERVICES A/C> 1,290,924 0.13%

Total 776,280,700 80.40%

ASX INFORMATION
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
The following is extracted from the Company’s register of substantial shareholders:

Number
of shares

Perpetual Limited 84,957,571

Superannuation and Investments HoldCo Pty Ltd 71,390,817

Allan Gray Australia Pty Ltd 68,495,340

State Street Corporation 62,252,487

Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc 59,938,323

The Vanguard Group, Inc 48,338,717

VOTING RIGHTS
All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.

ASX INFORMATION
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

DIRECTORS
Doug Jones (Group CEO) 
Peter Birtles (Chair) 
Mark Johnson  
Margaret Haseltine 
Christine Holman 
Murray Jordan 
Helen Nash

COMPANY SECRETARY
Julie Hutton

SHARE REGISTER
Boardroom Pty Limited 
GPO Box 3993 
Sydney NSW 2001

Freecall: 1800 655 325 
Telephone: 61 2 9290 9600

AUDITOR
Ernst & Young   
200 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

Telephone: 61 2 9248 5555

METCASH LIMITED
ABN 32 112 073 480

1 Thomas Holt Drive 
Macquarie Park NSW 2113

PO Box 557 
Macquarie Park NSW 1670

Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

METCASH FOOD (HEAD OFFICE)
1 Thomas Holt Drive 
Macquarie Park NSW 2113

PO Box 557 
Macquarie Park NSW 1670

Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

AUSTRALIAN LIQUOR MARKETERS (HEAD OFFICE)
1 Thomas Holt Drive 
Macquarie Park NSW 2113

PO Box 557 
Macquarie Park NSW 1670

Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

INDEPENDENT HARDWARE GROUP (HEAD OFFICE)
19 Corporate Drive 
Heatherton VIC 3202

Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A copy of the Corporate Governance Statement can be found on our website.

Visit www.metcash.com/corporateinformation/corporate-governance
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